### IN THE

### SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

ROBERT HAYES,

Appellant,

vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ORIGINAL

CASE NO. 79,997

## INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

RICHARD L. JORANDBY Public Defender 15th Judicial Circuit of Florida Criminal Justice Building 421 Third Street/6th Floor West Palm Beach, Florida 33401 (407) 355-7600

RICHARD B. GREENE Assistant Public Defender Florida Bar No. 265446

Counsel for Appellant

###

#### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Robert Hayes was the Defendant and the State of Florida was the Prosecution in the Circuit Court of the Seventeenth Judicial Circuit of Florida. In the brief, the parties will be referred to by name or as Appellant and Appellee.

The following symbols will be used:

"R" Record on Appeal "3SR" Third Supplemental Record on Appeal

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Robert Hayes was indicted on March 22, 1990, for first degree murder. He was tried from October 14, 1991, until November 29, 1991 R440-2101. He was convicted as charged R2100-2101.

A defense motion to release hair (found in the deceased's hands) for testing by a defense expert was filed on November 6, 1991 R2627-2628. A motion for new trial was filed on November 6, A form order denying the motion was dated 1991 R2629-2630. November 6, 1991 R2631. However, the clerk's stamp on the order reflects that it was filed on March 2, 1992 R2631. The penalty phase was held on November 14, 1991 R2216-2313. The jury recommended death by a vote of ten to two R2734. On January 9, 1992, the court ruled on Mr. Hayes' motion to release the hair found in the deceased's hand for independent testing by ordering the prosecution's expert (the Broward Sheriff's Department hair analyst) to test the hair R2758-2759. The defense filed a renewed motion for independent hair testing by its own examiner on February 12, 1992 R2760-2761. The trial court issued its order granting the renewed motion for testing of the hair evidence on March 16, 1992

- 1 -

R2765. The trial court sentenced Mr. Hayes to death on June 5, 1992 R2774-2776. The trial court found two aggravating factors (during a felony and heinous, atrocious, or cruel) and two mitigating circumstances (Robert Hayes' deprived background and his low I.Q. of 74) R2777-2785.

Mr. Hayes filed a second motion for new trial based upon the test results of Professor Walter Rowe, a professor of forensic sciences at George Washington University 3SR64-75. Professor Rowe's examination revealed that the Caucasian hairs in the deceased's hand had been forcibly removed and that "it is highly unlikely" that they were from the deceased 3SR74-75. This supported the defense that the hairs were forcibly removed in the struggle with the perpetrator. This would necessarily exonerate Mr. Hayes, who is Black. The trial court denied the motion 3SR95.

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The prosecution's case consisted of four general areas of testimony. (1) Forensic and law enforcement testimony concerning the investigation of the case and scientific testing. (2) Lay testimony concerning Robert Hayes' actions on the evening in question and his previous relationship with the deceased. (3) The testimony of a jailhouse informant. (4) Testimony concerning a collateral crime incident.

Monica Datz, an i.d. technician for the Pompano Beach Police Department, testified that she arrived at the room of the deceased at 7:14 a.m. on February 20, 1990 R1030-1032. She retrieved a Caucasian hair from the hand of the deceased R1181-1182. She took five latents from the room R1183-1184. There were three latents

- 2 -

of value R1185-1186. Two matched the deceased R1187. None matched Robert Hayes R1196. Lori Haberland testified that the deceased was found wearing only blue jeans and a red T-shirt R1174. There appeared to be feces in her jeans R1174-1175.

George Duncan, a serologist from the Broward County Crime Lab, testified that he took a vaginal swab from Ms. Albertson and cut out samples from a tank top that was laying on the floor of her room R 1045. Sandra Watson, a forensic serologist with the Broward County Sheriff's Office, testified that there was seminal fluid on the tank top and on the vaginal swab R1059-1062. This was revealed Seminal fluids could through the P30 protein test R1063-1064. probably last only twelve hours inside the vagina. She said the tank top stain could last longer, although she can't say how long The deceased's clothing revealed no seminal fluid R1064-1065. She tested several pieces of clothing from Mr. Hayes and R1070. none revealed blood R1542-1543. She tested fingernail scrapings from Mr. Hayes, which did not reveal blood R1544.

Joanna Squelgia, who formerly worked with Lifecodes Corporation, testified concerning her DNA testing in this case. She began testing the DNA materials in this case on September 4, 1990 R1083. The DNA from the vaginal swab had very marginal degradation. The DNA on the tank top found in the room was more seriously degraded. She claimed the DNA from the vaginal swab had a seven band match, R1124, and the tank top had a three band match R1124. She did all the testing on this sample alone without anyone watching her R1126. She ran one other case at the same time R1127. Kevin McElfresh, director of identification testing at Lifecodes, testified R1140. He had a Ph.D. in population genetics. He never reviewed the original material here, but he reviewed the autoradiographs, chain of custody information, and the mathematics of the tester R1142. He stated that the probability of the vaginal swab match is 1 in 425 million R1148. He claimed the probability of the tank top matches is 1 in 50,000 R1149.

Dr. Steven Nelson, an associate medical examiner, testified that he arrived at the deceased's room at the Pompano Beach Harness Track, at about 7:30 a.m. on February 20, 1990 R1290. The deceased was fully clothed R1290. She had a lot of bruising on the neck R1290. She appeared to have been dead for six to twelve hours R1291. There was feces in the room R1294. There was no way to tell whether it was human or animal R1294. The deceased was killed in the room R1294. Her blood alcohol was .06 R1299. He ruled the case to be a homicide by manual strangulation R1299. He stated that he has no idea whether she was conscious when the strangulation occurred R1339. She had bruises on both sides of her head and her upper lip, but had no skull fractures R1303-1304,1309. He found no bruising to the vaginal or anal area R1310. He saw no sperm on the slide of the vaginal swab, but he can not rule this out R1311. He would have expected to see sperm if there had been intercourse immediately prior to death, but this is not an absolute rule R1316. He found no defensive wounds R1322. The deceased had Caucasian hair in her hand, which he considered valuable evidence in determining the perpetrator R1327. He expected the reddish material, which appears to be blood, on the door to be tested

- 4 -

R1338. He also expected the Caucasian hair in her hand to be tested R1339.

Officer Kevin Butler testified that he met Robert Hayes at the Pompano Beach Police Station at 9:00 a.m. on February 20, 1990 R1407. Mr. Hayes stated that he had a casual conversation with the deceased at 5:30 p.m. on February 19, 1990, and stated that he did not see her again the rest of the evening R1408-1409. He stated that he knew the deceased from work and had had sex with her once about three months before her death R1422. She was a very heavy drinker and had been drinking the time they had sex R1422. He stated that he had never been inside her room R1414. He also stated that on the night in question he had not been in the deceased's dorm R1414. He said this in response to their confronting him with an alleged witness seeing him visible in her room R1414. This conversation was taped.

Officer Butler claims that he spoke to Mr. Hayes for  $1\frac{1}{2}$  hours off tape after the taped conversation R1435-1436. He originally maintained the same version of events R1436. Officer Butler then claims the police changed their tactics and told him that they knew he wouldn't want to admit to talking to the deceased for fear he would be falsely accused of killing her R1437. Butler claimed that Mr. Hayes then said that he had spoken to the deceased in the hallway of her dorm, but that he had not gone in her room R1437-1439. He originally took rough notes about the pre-tape conversation, but took no notes about the post-tape conversation R1444-1445. Officer Gregory Flynn stated that Robert Hayes freely

- 5 -

allowed himself to be fingerprinted and photographed and his room to be searched R1465-1466.

Alfred Grenier was working for Pompano Harness Track in Robert Hayes had worked for Macomber February, 1990 R1203. Stables, at Pompano Harness Track, for about a year in February, 1990 R1205. On February 20, 1990, the deceased did not show up for work R1205. He went to her room and was able to push the door open a couple of inches even though the chain was on R1206. He saw her head on the floor and went to get the security guards who were able to force the door open R1209-1210. He stated that Mr. Hayes and Ms. Albertson had worked together for four months R1208-1209. He stated the deceased had complained that Robert Hayes had repeatedly asked her out on dates R1209-1210. He took her to Gate 5 to talk to the security guard R1209-1210. He stated that Robert Hayes was an excellent groom R1211. On February 19, 1990, Robert Hayes was supposed to water his horse at 9:00 p.m. and the horse was watered R1216.

Verlin Gray testified that he was a groom at the Pompano Harness Track in February, 1990 R1222. He had known Robert Hayes for about two or three years at this time R1222-1223. He stated that he saw Robert Hayes about 5 or 6 p.m. on February 19, 1990, outside his dorm R1224. Robert Hayes had been drinking and stated that he had an argument with his girlfriend R1225. He claimed that Hayes said he wanted to find a woman and have sex with her R1226. He later saw Robert Hayes about 9:00 or 10:00 p.m. while he was waiting for the eighth race to finish R1227-1228. Mr. Hayes said he was going to bed. The eighth race went off around 10:00 p.m.

- 6 -

R1231. He stated that Robert Hayes often talked foolishly about having sex with women R1231-1232. Dianne Fields stated that she saw Robert Hayes near Gate 5 between 8:45 and 9:00 p.m. on February 19, 1990 R1236. He asked her for a date and she said no R1236-1237.

Charles Bakley stated that he had quit working as a groom for Macomber Stables about 2-3 days before this incident R1242. He came through Gate 5 at about 8:00 p.m. on February 19, 1990, and saw Dianne Fields speaking with Robert Hayes R1242-1243. He could not hear what they said R1244. He had worked with Robert Hayes and the deceased R1246.

Anne Santariello stated that she lived in the dorm above Pamela Albertson R1253. She stated that sometime during the night of February 19, 1990, she heard what she thought was a muffled scream and some banging R1254. She is not sure of the time, but thinks it was about 10:00 p.m. R1255. She is not sure what room it came from R1255. She had originally told the police it was earlier R1255. She claimed that the deceased had told her she was afraid of Robert Hayes and he had allegedly threatened her R1255.

Joan Schmidt stated that she worked as a groom at Pompano Harness Track from September, 1989, to April, 1990 R1261. She lived three doors down from the deceased, but barely knew her R1262. Ms. Albertson was in the hallway of their dorm at about 8:45 p.m. on February 19, 1990 R1263. Ms. Albertson was standing in the doorway with a Black male who was between 5'4" and 5'6" and medium complexion R1265. The man had on a white T-shirt with some type of decal on the front and greenish sweat pants cut off into

- 7 -

shorts. The man was mumbling something and appeared disoriented R1266. He was leaning against a wall to support himself R1266. She went to her room and heard nothing further R1267. About 10:00 p.m. she walked back by Pamela's room and heard what she thought were "very muffled moans". She thought that it sounded like she had let the man in and they were having consensual sex R1268-1269.

On February 20, 1990, she identified Mr. Hayes from a photographic lineup, but she could not identify him at the time of trial R1270. She originally told the police that the man was wearing white pants, but later changed her mind R1278. She identified a shirt taken from Mr. Hayes' room as the shirt the man was wearing that night R1278-1279.

Elijah Owens, a groom from the Pompano Harness Track, stated that he had known Robert Hayes for two years R1365-1366. He stated that on February 19, 1990, he saw out on his front porch from about 6:00 p.m. to about 11:00 p.m. He drank two or three beers during this time R1367. He claims that Mr. Hayes came by between 10:00 and 10:30 p.m. and asked for a cigarette R1367. He stated that he was sure of the time because the television show <u>Alien Nation</u> was on R1367. He stated that it was on from 10:00 p.m to 11:00 p.m. R1367. He stated that Pamela Albertson came out of her dorm in front of his dorm R1368. Mr. Hayes yelled at Ms. Albertson and went to talk to her R1369. Both sides then stipulated that <u>Alien</u> <u>Nation</u> was actually on from 9:00 p.m. to 10:00 p.m. Mr. Owens stated that Robert Hayes was wearing a white hat, white shorts, white tennis shoes, and he things a white shirt R1370. He said

- 8 -

when he saw Mr. Hayes and Ms. Albertson they were laughing and seemed very friendly R1375.

Clyde Tate testified that in the fall of 1989 and winter of 1990 he worked with Pamela Albertson at Pompano Harness Track R1346-1349. He claimed that Robert Hayes frequently asked Ms. Albertson out R1350. She always declined R1350. He also claimed she was scared of Mr. Hayes R1350. He claimed about a month before the incident in question he had seen Robert Hayes straddling the deceased in a barn while she was on her back R1353. She told him to stop and Tate walked up and told Mr. Hayes to stop R1354. He stopped and they finished watering the horses R1354. Mr. Tate never reported this incident to anyone R1355. He also admitted that he had been convicted of two felonies R1355. He was fired about a month before this incident R1401. He was fired for not cooling down a horse properly R1401. He denied every having sex with Ms. Albertson even though on deposition he had stated that he "had romantic affairs" with her R1402-1403. He claimed that he thought this meant hugging. He stated that it takes an hour to cool down a horse properly R1403-1404. He has seen it done as quickly as thirty minutes R1404-1405.

Tracey Marchant worked as a groom at Pompano Harness Track and also at a bar named Murray's Pub R1471-1472. On February 19, 1990, she saw Ms. Albertson at about 7:00 to 7:30 p.m in Murray's Pub R1474. Albertson was there for 1 to  $1\frac{1}{2}$  hours and drank four or five beers R1475. She left at about 8:45 p.m. R1475. She said she had to water her horses at nine and then she would be back later R1475-1476. Marchant claimed Albertson's stable was five to eight

- 9 -

minutes away R1476. Watering her horses would take ten to fifteen minutes R1476.

Alan Elisk testified he worked as a security guard at Gate 5 at Pompano Harness Track R1481. On February 19, 1990, he worked there between 4:00 p.m. until midnight R1481. On that night, he saw Hayes at the public phone booth at the gate at about 8:00 p.m. Mr. Hayes was on the phone for fifteen to twenty minutes R1484. He stated that the fourth race was going on at the time R1486. R1486. He stated that he and Mr. Hayes spoke and Hayes left after the fifth race R1487. He went towards the racing side, which is also the general area of the women's dorm R1488. About twenty minutes after the race started he heard what he thought was a scream from the area of the women's dorm R1488. He looked and didn't see anything R1488. He went back to work because a lot of time the women in the dorm would make noise R1489. He stated that Mr. Hayes was wearing white shorts, white shirt and a black beret or handkerchief R1489-1490. He stated on deposition that it was the fourth race which they discussed betting on R1491. After reviewing his deposition, he was convinced that it was the fourth race which actually went off at 8:34 p.m. R1491. After reviewing his deposition he decided that Mr. Hayes was actually speaking on the phone at about 8:45 p.m. R1492. He stated that Mr. Hayes was in a good mood, but had been drinking R1492. He finally stated that he was confused and did not know whether Hayes left after the fourth race R1492.

George Goebel testified that he owned a horse at Macomber's Stable R1502-1503. He stated that he knew both Robert Hayes and

- 10 -

the deceased R1504-1505. Mr. Goebel thought that Robert Hayes was a good groom R1505. He stated that the post-race cool down of a horse varies from 30 minutes to three hours R1509. One hour is the average R1509. He claimed that Ms. Albertson had told him that she was afraid to go in a barn alone with Mr. Hayes about three weeks before her death R1507. He told her to talk to the trainer and security R1513. He did not make out a police report on this even though he had just retired from 21 years with the Pompano Beach Police Department R1513.

Janet Stevenson stated that she lived in the same dorm as Ms. Albertson and knew her R1564. She stated that while the fourth race was going on she and her boyfriend left his barn and walked back to her dorm R1566. She saw Albertson speaking to a Black male and heard her say "I'm going to my room. You can go to yours" R1568. She can not identify the Black male. She claimed that the man had on a green tank top, which was like a sweatshirt that had been cut off and white shorts which appeared to be sweat pants that were cut into shorts R1569. Robert Gill stated that he was with his girlfriend, Janet Stevenson, on February 19, 1990 R1575. They went to his barn to water the horses between 8:30 and 9:00 p.m. R1576. They watered for fifteen to twenty minutes and then went to the women's dorm R1576. He saw an unidentified Black male and unidentified White female talking R1577. He heard the woman say, "I think I'll pass tonight," and the man said "Oh, come on, baby" R1580.

Debra Lesko, formerly Debra Joseph, testified to an alleged collateral offense. In September, 1988, she was a groom at Garden

- 11 -

State Park Race Track R1585. She stated that they worked for the same stable R1586. They sometimes went to lunch or dinner together She claimed that one day she went to a bar off track R1586-1587. with Robert Hayes after they fed their horses R1587-1588. Thev ate and had a couple of drinks and left R1588. About eight or nine p.m. they went back to her room R1589. They talked for a while R1589-1590. She claimed that Mr. Hayes then came toward her and got her on the floor on her stomach and proceeded to choke her R1590). She finally said, "Yes" and he got up R1591. She claimed she then told him she needed to go down the hallway to the restroom R1591. She claimed that he let her leave R1591. She stated she then went to security R1591.

Cheryl Bell testified that she roomed with Debbie Joseph (now Lesko) in September, 1988. She had a conversation with Robert Hayes in 1988 about Ms. Joseph R1595. She claimed Mr. Hayes told her that he had a date with Ms. Joseph to go to supper. He then said "maybe I can get lucky with her" R1595. She asked him what he meant R1595. She claimed he said "maybe go to bed with her" R1595. She claimed that later that night Debbie came to her and said that Mr. Hayes had jumped on her and grabbed her R1597.

Steven Schomp, a police officer with the Cherry Hill, New Jersey Police Department, stated that he took a complaint from Debbie Lesko in September, 1988 R1599. He arrested Robert Hayes for simple assault R1601. The charges were later dismissed R1601.

Ronald Morrison, a jailhouse informant, testified concerning an alleged statement made by Robert Hayes. Morrison stated that he is currently in the Broward County Jail R1608. He stated that he was on probation for robbery with a deadly weapon, aggravated assault, and resisting arrest without violence R1609. He was arrested on a violation of probation for failing a drug test and for being arrested on two charges of grand theft R1609. The grand thefts have been dropped but the violation of probation is pending R1609. He claimed he had a conversation with Robert Hayes about the incident R1616. He claimed Hayes told him that he was standing in the doorway outside the woman's room talking R1616. Mr. Hayes allegedly said he was trying to make a date and she said "she didn't date Black guys" R1617. He then allegedly said that he pushed her in the room, closed the door, and locked it R1616. Mr. Hayes supposedly said she screamed and he hit her R1616-1617. Morrison claimed he then threatened to kill her if she did not do what he said R1617. Robert Hayes allegedly said that he raped her and

"she started screaming and he yoked her to shut her up and held her in the yoke until she went limp"

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