FILED

SID J. WHITE

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

NOV 4 1994

CLERK, SUPREME COURT By _______ Chief Deputy Clerk

ROBERT HAYES,

Appellant,

vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

Case No. 79,997

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SEVENTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR BROWARD COUNTY, FLORIDA

AMENDED NSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

SARA D. BAGGETT ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLA. BAR NO. 0857238 1655 PALM BEACH LAKES BLVD. SUITE 300 WEST PALM BEACH, FL. 33409 (407) 688-7759

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLEE

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

Notwithstanding this case law, Appellant claims Lifecodes' testing procedures were unreliable. First, without any citation to the record, he relies on Dr. Garner's testimony that contamination could account for the seven band match on the tank top. **Brief of Appellant** at 48. Dr. Garner testified, however, that contamination will cause a false <u>negative</u>, not a false positive. (Depo. at 36). Similarly, Joanne Sguelgia testified that contamination would result in a nonmatch, and Dr. McElfresh testified that contamination would be immediately detectible. (T 414, 421).

Next, Appellant challenges Lifecodes' use of band shifting. Brief of Appellant at 48. Appellant's expert, however, specifically testified that Lifecodes' use of a monomorphic probe to correct band slippage "seems to be adequate." He could not "find fault with it." (T 32). Thus, this claim is not supported by the record.

In sum, Appellant failed to preserve this issue for review by failing to make a contemporaneous objection to its admission at trial. Even were it preserved, however, Appellant's objections to

Lifecodes' procedures relate to the weight rather than the admissibility of the results. Even were admissibility the issue, Appellant has failed to show that the trial court abused its discretion in admitting the results of the DNA tests. Finally, were this Court to conclude that the results should not have been admitted, such error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. <u>See State v. DiGuilio</u>, 491 So.2d 1129 (Fla. 1986). Based on the quality and quantity of permissible evidence, including Appellant's confession to Ronald Morrison, upon which the jury could have relied to reach a guilty verdict, there is no reasonable possibility that the verdict would have been different had the DNA test results not been admitted. Therefore, Appellant's conviction should be affirmed.

ISSUE VII

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION IN RESTRICTING THE CROSS-EXAMINATION OF A STATE WITNESS (Restated).

During the trial, the State presented the testimony of Clyde Tate, a groom at the Pompano Harness Race Track. Mr. Tate testified to an incident three or four weeks before the murder in which Appellant accosted the victim in one of the barns at the track. (T 1346-55). Prior to his testimony, the parties discussed the manner in which Mr. Tate could be impeached regarding his prior felony convictions. (T 1312-13). During his direct examination, the State asked him if he had ever been convicted of a felony. When Mr. Tate responded that he had, the State asked him how many times, and Mr. Tate responded twice. The State then asked him how many years ago, and he testified that they occurred in 1981. (T 1354-55).

During cross-examination, defense counsel asked Mr. Tate if he had ever been ruled off of the track, and the State's objection was sustained. (T 1355). At sidebar, defense counsel explained that Mr. Tate failed to admit his convictions on an application to the Racing Commission and was then ruled off of the track when the Commission discovered it. She did not believe that a conviction for perjury was required for the admission of such testimony since it related to his veracity and credibility. (T 1356-60). The State argued that defense counsel could not impeach on a collateral matter where there was no conviction for perjury. (T 1357-59). After extensive discussion, the trial court sustained the State's

objection, concluding that Mr. Tate's being ruled off of the track for lying on the application did not relate to bias, motive, or self-interest in testifying. (T 1394-99).

In this appeal, Appellant claims that the trial court abused its discretion in limiting his cross-examination of Mr. Tate as the evidence (1) constituted a prior inconsistent statement, (2) related directly to his credibility, and (3) related to his motive for testifying. Brief of Appellant 51-56. As the record reveals, however, defense counsel argued only the second of these claims as the basis for admission of the testimony; thus, Appellant is precluded from raising the other two for the first time on appeal. Tillman v. State, 471 So.2d 32, 35 (Fla. 1985) ("In order to preserve for review an issue arising from a trial court's ruling of a question of admissibility of evidence, the specific ground to be relied upon must be raised before the court of first instance."); Steinhorst v. State, 412 So.2d 332, 338 (Fla. 1982) ("[I]n order for an argument to be cognizable on appeal, it must be the specific contention asserted as legal ground for the objection, exception, or motion below.").

To the extent defense counsel's arguments below could be construed to encompass all three of these arguments, the State nevertheless submits that they are without merit. As for Appellant's claim that Mr. Tate's failure to report his convictions constituted a prior inconsistent statement, defense counsel failed to lay a proper foundation for the prior inconsistent statement. In order to impeach a witness with a prior inconsistent statement,

the witness must be confronted with the prior inconsistent statement and given an opportunity to explain or deny it. <u>Fernandez-Carballo v. State</u>, 590 So.2d 1004, 1004-05 (Fla. 3d DCA 1991). Whether Mr. Tate had been ruled off of the track did not relate to a specific prior inconsistent statement; thus, the State's objection to the question was properly sustained. <u>Id.</u>

As for Appellant's claim that the testimony was directly related to Mr. Tate's veracity and credibility, it is wellestablished that "[e]vidence of particular acts of misconduct cannot be introduced to impeach the credibility of a witness. The only proper inquiry into a witness' character, for impeachment purposes, goes to reputation for truth or veracity." Farinas v. State, 569 So.2d 425, 428-29 (Fla. 1990). In Farinas, this Court found error, though harmless, in the State's questioning of a defense expert witness regarding allegations by the witness' former employer of unethical conduct. Similarly, in State v. Pettis, 520 So.2d 250, 253-54 (Fla. 1988), this Court found error, though not fundamental, in the defense's questioning of a police officer regarding unrelated reprimands. In <u>DeSantis v. Acevedo</u>, 528 So.2d 461 (Fla. 3d DCA 1988), a civil negligence case, the Third District found reversible error in the defense's questioning of (1) the plaintiff, a police officer, "about an incident he was involved in while employed at another police department, which insinuated that DeSantis had been dishonest," and (2) a witness for the plaintiff, and a former police officer, about charges the police department had brought against him for insubordination, failure to comply with

orders, and absences without leave: "'We think these unfair character assassinations could have done nothing but inflame the jury against these witnesses, who were so essential to the plaintiff's case, and in so doing, denied the plaintiff the substance of a fair trial below.'" <u>Id.</u> at 462 (quoting <u>Simmons v.</u> <u>Baptist Hosp. of Miami</u>, 454 So.2d 681, 682 (Fla. 3d DCA 1984)). As in these cases, Appellant's impeachment evidence was improper, and thus the trial court did not abuse its discretion in limiting defense counsel's cross-examination.

As for Appellant's claim that such evidence was admissible to show bias or a motive to testify, this alleged incident of falsifying an application did not result any in charges, nor was there any evidence that charges were forthcoming. Even if Mr. Tate's actions were under investigation, "the ability to crossexamine on such investigation is not absolute. Instead, any investigation must not be too remote in time and must be related to the case at hand to be relevant." Breedlove v. State, 580 So.2d 605, 608-09 (Fla. 1991). In Breedlove, the defendant claimed that he was precluded from impeaching several police officers with evidence of criminal activity. This Court held, however, that such evidence was not relevant to show bias or motive when the conduct or investigations are not related to the facts of the case. "Evidence of bias may be inadmissible if it unfairly prejudices the trier of fact against the witness or misleads the trier of fact. Therefore, inquiry into collateral matters, if such matters will not promote the ends of justice, should not be permitted if it is

unjust to the witness and uncalled for by the circumstances." <u>Id.</u> at 609. As in <u>Breedlove</u>, the allegations against Mr. Tate were wholly unrelated to the facts of the case, and thus were properly excluded as evidence of bias or motive to testify falsely.

Were this Court to find, however, that defense counsel should have been allowed to question Mr. Tate regarding his application to the Racing Commission, such error was harmless beyond a reasonable Mr. Tate was not a key state witness in that he did not doubt. testify to any events directly surrounding the murder. Rather, Mr. Tate related a prior incident in which Appellant accosted the Even were his testimony wholly discredited based on the victim. impeachment evidence, there is no reasonable possibility that the verdict or sentence would have been different given the other evidence, including Appellant's confession to Ronald Morrison, of Appellant's quilt. Breedlove, 580 So.2d at 607 (no reasonable possibility that evidence of officers' criminal activity would have changed the outcome); Derrick v. State, 581 So.2d 31, 36 (Fla. 1991) (improper restriction of cross-examination regarding witness' prior inconsistent statement relating to number of convictions was harmless error). Consequently, Appellant's conviction and sentence should be affirmed.

ISSUE VIII

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION IN ALLOWING A STATE WITNESS TO EXPRESS HER OPINION AS TO APPELLANT'S GUILT (Restated).

During the trial, Anne Santariello, a groom at the race track who lived above the victim, testified that she heard a scream around 10:00 on the night of the murder and some "rumbling, banging or something like that" possibly coming from the victim's room, but did not hear anything more so she did not investigate it further.

(T 1254). The following colloquy then occurred:

Q [By the State] When was it you found out that Pamela Albertson had been murdered?

A [By Ms. Santariello] I didn't find out until like it was about noon, somewhere around there.

Q The police came to you? The detectives came to you and asked you ultimately what you had heard?

A No, no. What happened was somebody told me that works for the track that Pamela has been murdered and I called John Beatrice, which is security, and told him I know who did it.

Q Okay.

[DEFENSE COUNSEL]: Your Honor, I'm going to move to strike as being unresponsive to the question.

THE COURT: Overruled.

Q You gave Bob [sic], a name of the defendant; is that correct?

A Yes.

Q Had Pamela Albertson spoken to you of Robert Hayes prior to her death?

A Yes. A lot.

Q What did she say?

A She told me how afraid she was of him. How he kept threatening her. He was going to get her one way or another and I heard a lot of that. She told me that.

Q That's why you called when you heard that Pamela Albertson had in fact been killed?

A Yes.

(T 1254-55).

In this appeal, Appellant claims that the trial court abused its discretion in allowing this testimony because (1) "this witness had no personal knowledge of who committed this offense, but was solely based on hearsay," and (2) "[t]his was also improper opinion testimony by a lay witness." Brief of Appellant at 56-59. As the above excerpts reveal, defense counsel objected that the witness' answer was not responsive to the question. She did not raise either of the two grounds raised here as a basis for her motion to Thus, Appellant has failed to preserve this issue for strike. appeal. Tillman v. State, 471 So.2d 32, 35 (Fla. 1985); Steinhorst v. State, 412 So.2d 332, 338 (Fla. 1982). Regardless, any error in its admission was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt given the quality and quantity of permissible evidence upon which the jury could have relied in reaching a guilty verdict. See Capehart v. State, 583 So.2d 1009, 1013 (Fla. 1991), cert. denied, 117 L.Ed.2d 122 (1992); Gonzalez v. State, 511 So.2d 703, 704 (Fla. 3d DCA 1987); <u>Hill v. State</u>, 459 So.2d 434 (Fla. 3d DCA 1984); <u>Huff v.</u> State, 495 So.2d 145, 149 (Fla. 1986).

In this issue, Appellant also claims that the State elicited

"improper hearsay that the deceased had supposedly said that she was scared of Robert Hayes." **Brief of Appellant** at 58. Because Appellant failed to provide a record cite to such testimony, the State assumes he is referring only to Ms. Santariello's testimony. The record reveals, however, that no objection was made to such testimony. Thus, Appellant has also failed to preserve this issue for appeal. <u>Steinhorst</u>, <u>supra</u>. Regardless, such testimony, if error, was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. <u>See Correll v.</u> <u>State</u>, 523 So.2d 562, 565-66 (Fla. 1988). Consequently, Appellant's conviction should be affirmed.

<u>ISSUE IX</u>

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION IN RESTRICTING QUESTIONING IN VOIR DIRE (Restated).

During jury selection, defense counsel asked the following question of Juror Barrett: "I think you were present when the one juror that was excused made the comment that because Mr. Hayes is black and he's here on the charge of murder he's guilty in her (T 921). view. What did you think about that comment?" Mr. Barrett responded that he thought the comment was inappropriate. Defense counsel then asked Juror Rubin what she thought about the comment, and Ms. Rubin also did not appreciate it: "It's not fair to judge somebody because of their race." (T 921). Thereafter, defense counsel asked the panel if anyone had watched the confirmation hearings of Clarence Thomas, and most everybody responded affirmatively. (T 921). Defense counsel then asked Ms. Rubin whether she thought that race was an issue, but Ms. Rubin responded that she had not seen the hearings, so counsel asked Ms. The State objected, and the trial court sustained it, Foss. saying, "I don't see what this has to do with it." (T 922). Defense counsel then asked, "How many of you watch 60 Minutes? Mr. Rafferty, there was a program I think --," at which point the trial court interrupted: "I don't want to go into any of that." Defense counsel said, "Okay" and moved on to questions regarding DNA testing. (T 922).

In this appeal, Appellant claims that the trial court improperly restricted defense counsel's questioning regarding

racial attitudes. Brief of Appellant at 59-61. To support this contention, Appellant principally relies upon Turner v. Murray, 476 U.S. 28 (1985), in which the Supreme Court held that a capital defendant accused of an interracial crime is entitled to have prospective jurors informed of the victim's race and questioned on the issue of racial bias.¹ In <u>Turner</u>, however, the Court specifically required counsel to affirmatively request such an "[A] defendant cannot complain of a judge's failure to inguiry: question the venire on racial prejudice unless the defendant has specifically requested such an inquiry." 476 U.S. at 37. The Court also held that the trial court retains discretion over the form and number of questions and whether the jurors should be questioned individually or collectively. Id.

In the present case, the record reveals that defense counsel questioned two jurors about a racial remark made by another prospective juror who had been excused for cause. When counsel attempted to question individual jurors about the Clarence Thomas hearings and whether they believed race was an issue in his confirmation, the State's objection was sustained. At that point, counsel made no request for a sidebar conference and made no attempt otherwise to advocate her desire for an inquiry into racial bias. From the record, it is obvious that the trial court did not see a connection between the facts of this case and whether racial

¹The Court limited any harm in failing to do so to the penalty phase of the trial. Thus, Appellant's plea for a new trial is misplaced.

bias was an issue in Clarence Thomas' confirmation hearings. Defense counsel did nothing to explain the connection. Based on <u>Turner</u>, defense counsel had a duty to specifically request such an inquiry, thereby giving the trial court the opportunity to decide the manner in which such an inquiry should be undertaken. Because counsel failed to do so, she has failed to preserve this issue for review.

<u>ISSUE X</u>

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION IN ALLOWING THE STATE TO EXCUSE A BLACK JUROR FROM THE VENIRE (Restated).

During jury selection, the trial court generally began the process with questions related to biographical information, prior arrests, prior victimization, prior jury service, etc. When Marie Williams moved from the general pool to the panel, the trial court engaged in the following colloquy with her:

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